70143-6

No. 70143-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WESTERN NATIONAL ASSURANCE COMPANY, a Washington Corporation, Respondents,

v.

SHELCON CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company, Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lawrence B. Linville, WSBA # 6401 Linville Law Firm, PLLC Attorney for Appellant 800 5th Avenue, Suite 3850 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 515-0640

II.	ISSUE PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF
	ERROR1
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
IV.	ARGUMENT9
	A. THE POLICY COVERAGE9
	(1) Property Damage9
	(2) Occurrence11
	(3) Physical Injury to A-2's Property14
	(4) Loss of Use14
	(5) Repair, Restoration, Replacement15
	B. THE POLICY EXCLUSIONS16
	(1) Exclusion j(5)18
	(2) Exclusion i(6)24
	(3) Exclusion (m)25
	C. THE DUTY TO DEFEND29
	D. DIMINUTION IN VALUE36
V.	REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES42
VI	CONCLUSION 43

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Acuity v. Burd & Smith Construction, Inc. 721 N.W.2d 33 (2006)24
American Best Food, Inc v. Alea London, Ltd, 168 Wn. 2d. 398(2010)
Columbia Insurance Company v. Schauf, 967 S.W.2d 74 (1998)
Diana v. Western National Insurance Company, 56 Wn.App 741(1990)
Essex Insurance Company v. Bloomsouth Flooring Corporation, 562 F.3d 399 (1st Cir.2009)29
Estate of Jordan v. Hartford & Indem. Co., 120 Wn.2d 490 (1993)
McGreevy v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co., 128 Wn.2d 26 (1995)42
Mid-Continent Casualty Co. v. JHP Development, Inc., 557 F.3d 207(2009)25
Missouri Terrazo Co. v. Iowa National Mutual Insurance Co., 740 F.2d 647 (8 th Cir. 1984)38
Olympic Steamship v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37, 53 (1991)
Panorama Vill. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 144 Wn.2d 130 (2001)
Public Util. Dist. I v. International Ins. Co., 124 Wn.2d 789 (1994)
Transportation Insurance Co. v. Piedmont Construction Group, LLC, 686 S.E. 2d 824 (2009)24
Woo v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 161 Wn.2d 43 (2006)29, 33

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Error is assigned to the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of Western National Assurance Company ("WNAC") and denying Shelcon Construction Group, LLC's ("Shelcon") Motion for Summary Judgment. Both parties agreed there existed no material facts in genuine dispute.

II. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Did WNAC breach its duty to defend Shelcon against the claims asserted by A-2 Venture, LLC. ("A-2").

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A-2 sued Shelcon for property damage to A-2's undeveloped land located in Puyallup ("Subject Property"). (CP 18, pgs. 59-63). The property damage for which A-2 sued Shelcon was A-2's loss of use of the Subject Property for construction of 57 homes to be built upon conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63).

A-2 hired Shelcon to prepare the Subject Property for A-2's construction of 57 homes built upon conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63). A-2's business plan was to then construct and sell the homes to the public. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63).

Prior to Shelcon's work on the Subject Property, A-2 retained the services of a geotechnical engineering firm, The Riley Group, who advised A-2 that the Subject Property was unstable and potentially unable to provide adequate support for construction of homes built upon conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63). The Subject Property was potentially unstable because there were significant deposits of peat underneath the ground surface. (CP 18, pg. 126). The depths of the peat deposits were undetermined. (CP 18, pg. 61). A-2 retained The Riley Group to design a procedure for compacting the Subject Property. (CP 18, pg. 124). The Riley Group recommended that Shelcon place settlement markers on top of the native soil, import and place approximately 4-6 feet of surcharge on top of the native soil, and then measure the rate and amount of settlement of the native soil. (CP 18, pg. 126). When no more settlement was measureable, then the 57 homes could be constructed upon conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63).

Shelcon installed the settlement markers on top of the native soil. (CP 18, pg. 125). Shelcon then imported and placed the 4-6 feet of surcharge on the entire Subject Property, leaving the tips of the steel rods visible above the ground, the vertical movement of which was to be later measured by laser. (CP 18, pg. 126). All settlement markers installed by Shelcon's workers were installed pursuant to the project drawings. (CP 18, pg. 126)

Shelcon imported approximately 11,000 truckloads of surcharge and properly placed the surcharge over the entire Subject Property. (CP 18, pg. 127). However, during the course of importing and placing the surcharge across the Subject Property, the trucks accidentally ran over and destroyed all the settlement markers thus leaving the Subject Property covered with 4-6 feet of surcharge which could no longer be measured in terms of its rate of settlement. (CP 18, pg. 127).

A-2 alleged in its Complaint that it was "impractical" to install the settlement markers once the 4-6 feet of surcharge had been imported and placed. (CP 18, pg. 62). A-2 alleged that the settlement markers had to be placed *before* the surcharge. (CP 18, pg. 61). Otherwise, settlement could not be accurately measured according to A-2. (CP 18, pg. 61). Because, the stability of the ground remained unmeasured and thus uncertain, the Subject Property could not be used to construct conventional foundations upon. (CP 18, pgs. 61-62).

A-2 sued Shelcon for damage to the Subject Property, due to loss of use of the Subject Property to support construction of 57 homes built upon conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63). A-2 claimed that Shelcon's destruction of the settlement markers caused "a total failure to meet the geotechnical requirements of the job so that the property could be used to construct improvements on". (CP 18, pgs. 61-62). A-2 further alleged that

Shelcon's negligent destruction of the settlement markers "...caused the plaintiff to sustain far reaching damages...", *including* the loss in value and marketability of the property. (CP 18, pg. 62).

A-2 did *not* sue Shelcon for damage to the settlement markers. A-2 did *not* claim that the settlement markers were incorrectly or negligently installed by Shelcon. A-2 did *not* claim that Shelcon incorrectly or negligently imported and placed the surcharge of dirt. Rather, A-2 sued Shelcon because of Shelcon's allegedly negligent destruction of the settlement markers which A-2 claimed *resulted* in A-2's *loss of the use* of the Subject Property to construct 57 homes with conventional foundations. (CP 18, pgs. 61-62). It is this *loss of use* of the Subject Property that formed the basis of A-2's lawsuit against Shelcon.

WNAC issued Policy No. CP-300007658-02/000 ("CGL Policy") to Shelcon. The CGL Policy expressly included WNAC's standard Commercial General Liability Coverage Form CG 00 01 12 04. (CP 18, pgs. 66-81). Upon being served with A-2's Summons and Complaint, Shelcon timely tendered the defense to WNAC. (CP 18, pgs. 83-85). WNAC denied Shelcon's tender of defense because WNAC elected not to read A-2's claim as being a claim for property damage. (CP 18, pgs. 88). Shelcon then took the deposition of A-2's sole member (Scott Haymond). (CP 18, pgs. 91-111). Haymond testified that Shelcon's negligent

destruction of the settlement markers resulted in the loss of use of A-2's property. (CP 18, pgs. 96-98, 100-102). Shelcon forwarded Haymond's complete deposition to WNAC with a second tender of defense. (CP 18, pgs. 114-116). WNAC still refused to defend. (CP 18, pgs. 118-120). WNAC then chose to focus on that part of A-2's Complaint that claimed that Shelcon's negligent destruction of the settlement markers "reduced the value of the property substantially".

"There is no claim that Shelcon's work resulted in physical injury to or loss of use of the property; only that the property became less attractive to potential buyers". (CP 18, pg. 118).

WNAC chose to ignore A-2's allegations in A-2's Complaint which further claimed that "the property could not be used to construct improvements on" (CP 18, pgs. 61-62) and that A-2's damages were "far reaching" (CP 18, pg. 62), thus potentially including damages other than loss of value.

WNAC also refused to defend Shelcon because:

"Removal of the settlement markers occurred while Shelcon was "performing operations" at the site and Policy CP300007658 excludes damage occurring while the insured is performing operations on the job site": (CP 18, pg. 118).

WNAC's position was that if Shelcon damaged any property during the course of its operations, regardless of how and no matter whether that

damage lead to subsequent or consequential damage, whatever damage was caused by Shelcon, either initially or consequentially, that damage was excluded from coverage.

"Even if the complaint did allege "property damage" as that term is defined in the policy, exclusions in the policy would eliminate coverage. Removal of the settlement markers occurred while Shelcon was "performing operations" at the site and policy CP 300007658 excludes damage occurring while the insured is performing operations on a job site:" (CP 18, pg. 118).

WNAC also refused to defend Shelcon because WNAC took the position that there was no physical injury to the Subject Property by the placement of 4-6 feet of surcharge on top of the Subject Property that could no longer serve the purpose of the surcharge, which was to measure the rate and amount of settlement of the native soil in order to proceed with the construction of homes built upon conventional foundations. WNAC stated as follows:

"The land has not sustained a physical injury." (CP 18, pg. 120).

Additionally, WNAC refused to defend because WNAC elected to interpret plaintiff's Complaint as *not* alleging a loss of use, but simply alleging that the property was less marketable. Specifically, WNAC stated:

"Although it is less marketable, it can be used and therefore has not sustained a loss of use." (CP 18, pg. 120).

WNAC further declined to defend Shelcon because WNAC opined that the settlement markers *could* be replaced after the surcharge was imported and spread across the Subject Property. WNAC stated as follows:

"The property is tangible property that has not been physically injured or is less useful because of the removal of the settlement markers. It could be restored to use by replacement of the settlement markers and therefore satisfies the definition of "impaired property." (CP 18, pg. 120).

However, earlier on December 19, 2011, WNAC stated its understanding of A-2's claims far differently:

"A2 maintains that Shelcon failed to adhere to the Riley Group Geotechnical Report dated October 24, 2005 that was a part of the contract documents. Soils conditions at the site called for the installation of settlement markers to be inspected until 95% compaction was achieved at each level of fill. A2 asserts that Shelcon removed the markers and simply continued to install fill material. Their actions resulted in "a total failure to meet the geotechnical requirements of the job so that the property could be used to construct improvements on. When defendant's said negligent actions had been discovered, the costs and time of remedying the errors was impractical. The said actions by defendant reduced the value of the property substantially." (CP 18, pg. 87).

Then, three short months later on March 20, 2012, WNAC expressed the following contrary understanding:

"There is *no* claim that Shelcon's work resulted in physical injury to or loss of use of the property; only that the property became *less attractive* to potential buyers," (emphasis supplied). (CP 18, pg. 118).

WNAC's first letter of denial on December 19, 2011 clearly stated as follows:

"Their (referring to Shelcon) actions resulted in a total failure to meet the geotechnical requirements of the job so that the property could be used to construct improvements on". (CP 18, pg. 87).

But later, on March 20, 2012, WNAC wrote:

"Although it is less marketable, it can be used and therefore has not sustained a loss of use."

"Their (Shelcon's) actions resulted in a total failure to meet the geotechnical requirements of the job so that the property could be used to construct improvements on." (CP 18, pg. 120).

WNAC did nothing to investigate the claims asserted by A-2. WNAC never contacted A-2. WNAC never contacted A-2's attorney. WNAC never requested a single document from A-2, A-2's attorney, or Shelcon's attorney. WNAC never reviewed the geotechnical reports prepared by The Riley Group or any of the other documents expressly identified in A-2's Complaint against Shelcon. All of this contact information was contained within A-2's

Complaint. (CP 18, pgs. 59-63). WNAC declined to attend Mr. Haymond's deposition.

A-2's claims came on for trial in the Pierce County Superior Court

Department No. 10, at the conclusion of which Judge Garold E. Johnson

entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of

Shelcon and against A-2. (CP 18, pgs. 122-134).

WNAC filed a Complaint For Declaratory Relief. (CP 1). Both WNAC and Shelcon filed for motions for summary judgment. (CP 18 and 20). The trial court granted WNAC's motion for summary judgment and denied Shelcon's motion for summary judgment. (CP 34 and 35). This appeal followed. (CP 36).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE POLICY COVERAGE

(1) Property Damage

The CJL Policy provides the terms and conditions of WNAC's coverage for property damage that has been accidentally caused. Section I is entitled "Coverages" and states in pertinent part as follows:

SECTION 1 – COVERAGES COVERAGE A BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

- 1. Insuring Agreement
- a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or

"property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any "suit" seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to defined the insured against any "suit" seeking damages for "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance does not apply. We may, at our discretion, investigate any "occurrence" and settle any claim or "suit" that may result.

Section V of the CGL policy defines some (but not all) of the words used within the CGL Policy. Property damage is one of the words defined in the CGL Policy. Property damage is defined as follows:

17. "Property damage" means:

- a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the physical injury that caused it; or
- b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the "occurrence" that caused it.

According to the CGL Policy, "Property damage" means "physical injury" to "tangible property", *including* loss of use of that property. The CJL Policy provides no definitions of "physical", "injury", "tangible", "property", "resulting", "loss", "use", "or that property". So those worked should be given their ordinary meanings.

The CGL Policy insures against either or both (1) physical injury to the property, and/or (2) loss of use of the property. "Property damage" is a covered loss regardless of physical injury to A-2's property because the CGL Policy insured Shelcon against A-2 claims of *loss of use* of A-2's property, regardless of physical injury to A-2's property which there most certainly existed due to the placement of 4-6 feet of surcharge spread across the Subject Property.

(2) Occurrence.

Section I(b)(1) provides that 'property damage' must be caused by an "occurrence".

- b. This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if:
- (1) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" is caused by an "Occurrence" that takes place in the "coverage territory."

"Occurrence" is defined by the CGL Policy as follows:

13. "Occurrence" means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.

Within the policy's definition of "occurrence", the term "accident" was left undefined by WNAC.

The "occurrence" in this case was the accidental destruction of the settlement markers by Shelcon. WNAC itself recognized in writing that the damage to the settlement markers was an "occurrence".

In its letter of March 20, 2012, WNAC clearly acknowledged that destruction of the settlement markers was an "occurrence" within the meaning of the CGL Policy. WNAC wrote as follows:

"Any loss of use of the property that was not damaged is deemed to have *occurred* at the time of the "occurrence" that caused the loss of use. *Here*, that would be removal of the markers." (Emphasis supplied).

In Shelcon's case, the occurrence alleged by A-2 was Shelcon's negligent destruction of the settlement markers. In Shelcon's case, the property damage covered by the CGL Policy was the resulting loss of use of A-2's Subject Property to support construction of 57 homes with conventional foundations. There was no coverage for damage to the settlement markers themselves, nor did A-2's Complaint seek recovery for damage to the settlement markers, nor did A-2's Complaint seek damages for the cost of replacing the settlement markers, nor did A-2's Complaint seek a credit from Shelcon for not installing the settlement markers. Rather, A-2 alleged in its Complaint as follows:

"The employees of defendant removed the settlement markers without the knowledge of the plaintiff or plaintiff's engineers and continued to install fill on top of the area. This made it impossible to accurately measure the settling. There was therefore a total failure to meet the geotechnical requirements of the job so that the property could be used to construct improvements on. When defendants said negligent actions had been discovered, the costs and time of remedying the errors was impractical." (CP 18, pg. 61).

In *Diana v. Western National Insurance Company*, 56 Wn.App 741 (1990), the Court defined "accident" as "an unusual, unexpected, and unforeseen happening". In addition, the Court stated "an accident is never present when a deliberate act is performed (e.g., trucks running over settlement markers) unless some additional unexpected, independent and unforeseen happening occurs" that produces the damage (e.g., loss of Subject Property's use for construction of homes).

In Shelcon's case, the "additional, unexpected, independent and unforeseen happening" that occurred and that also produced the property damage to A-2 (i.e., loss of use of property) was not the damage to the settlement markers, but the consequences which ensued from the destruction of the settlement markers throughout the course of importing and placing the surcharge. A-2 alleged that the settlement markers could not be installed after the surcharge had been imported and placed. And, as A-2 alleged, without the settlement markers properly in place, A-2's property was damaged by 4-6 feet of surcharge on the property with no capability of measuring the settlement. Therefore, A-2 lost the use of the Subject Property to construct homes upon conventional foundations.

Again, the "accident" or "occurrence" is not the damage to the settlement markers. The "accident" or "occurrence" is the property damage (loss of

use) to A-2's property that was the unexpected result of the destruction of the settlement markers.

(3) Physical Injury to A-2's Property.

Shelcon allegedly negligently destroyed the settlement markers.

Damage to the settlement markers alone was not a covered loss. That was a business risk assumed by Shelcon. Shelcon understands that. However, A-2 did not sue Shelcon to recover damages for the damaged or destroyed settlement markers themselves. Rather, A-2 sued Shelcon for damage (resulting loss of use) to the Subject Property as a result of Shelcon's allegedly negligent destruction of the settlement markers. This property damage is a covered loss.

WNAC denied there was property damage because there was no physical injury to the Subject Property caused by placement of the fill dirt on top of the native soil.

"The land has not sustained a physical injury."

But the CGL Policy's definition of "property damage" does not require that there be physical injury to the property. Property damage is also defined by the CGL Policy to include loss of use.

(4) Loss of Use.

WNAC further denies that A-2 sustained loss of use of the Subject Property. WNAC asserted that A-2 still had remaining uses for the Subject Property other than for the construction of 57 homes with conventional foundations. WNAC denies that A-2 sustained property loss other than diminution in value of its property.

"Although it is less marketable, it can be used and therefore has not sustained a loss of use".

But it was not for WNAC to second guess A-2's Complaint. A-2's Complaint alleged a loss of use. WNAC was just arguing with its own insured. Instead, WNAC should have been defending its insured.

(5) Repair, Restoration, Replacement.

WNAC acknowledged that the Subject Property was tangible property within the meaning of the CGL Policy's definition of "property damage", but refused to defend the claim because WNAC opined that the settlement markers *could* be replaced. WNAC's position is that

"It could be restored to use by replacement of the settlement markers and therefore satisfies the definition of "impaired property".

But it is the allegations that matter: not WNAC's disagreement with those allegations.

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