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

exclusion [i.e., the "impaired property" exclusion] does not apply is plain. 

Suffolk's complaint alleged that odor 'permeated the building.' As we 

have concluded, this allegation is reasonably susceptible to an 

interpretation that the odor physically injured the property." Id. at 408. 
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Again, here, in contrast, there is no predicate "physical damage" alleged in 

the complaint to defeat exclusion m. The BloomSouth Flooring Corp. 

case is distinguishable. 

Finally, Shelcon's analysis of the "impaired property" exclusion 

(see pp. 26 and 27 of Appellant's Brief) places additional restrictions on 

the application of Exclusion m. Shelcon cites the definition of "impaired 

property" as the source of the additional restrictions. The analysis, 

however, misses a critical distinction. The language of Exclusion m. does 

not apply only to "impaired property," a defined term in the WNAC 

policies. The Exclusion applies to "'Property damage' to "impaired 

property' or property that has not been physically injured . ... " (emphasis 

added). 

The latter emphasized language is not a redundant definition of 

"impaired property" (which is defined elsewhere in the policies). It is an 

alternative category of property to which exclusion m. applies. Thus, 

Shelcon's arguments that additional language found within the definition 

of "impaired property" necessarily limits the scope of the exclusion (see 

pp. 26 and 27 of the its brief) are incorrect. 

The WNAC denial of the duty to defend under exclusion m. was 

proper. WNAC had no duty to defend Shelcon and had no duty to 

830273/2310.0069 34 



reimburse She1con for its attorney's fees and costs incurred In the 

Underlying Action. 

2. Exclusions j.(5) and j.(6) of WNAC's Policies 
Exclude Coverage for A-2's Allegations. 

a. Exclusion j.(5) 

Coverage is also precluded under Exclusion j.(5) where the 

insured's work must be repaired or replaced because its work is simply 

incorrect. It reads as follows: 

J. Damage to Property 

"Property damage" to: 

(5) That particular part of real property on which you or 
any contractors or subcontractors, working directly 
or indirectly on your behalf, are performing 
operations, if the "property damage" arises out of 
those operations; or 

CP 362, 384,405. 

Exclusion j.(5) applies directly to alleged "property damage" 

including loss of use that occurs during the course of the work on the 

project. It excludes coverage for losses to the property upon which a 

contractor works during the construction period. Vandivort Construction 

v. Seattle Tennis Club, 11 Wn. App. 303 (1974). There is no dispute here 

that claims asserted against Shelcon arose during the construction period. 

830273 12310.0069 35 



In Vandivort, the insured contractor argued that earth slide 

damages extending beyond the property line of its client (i.e., outside of 

the "particular part of any property upon which operations were being 

performed") meant that the exclusion did not apply. Id. at 308. The court 

held that where a contractor is performing operations on property under 

construction and the property damage "arose out of those operations," then 

coverage for damage to the property is subject to the j. (5) exclusion. 

Vandivort, 11 Wn. App. 303, 308 and 310 (l974)("Vandivort was 

performing operations on the property and the injury here for which 

damages are claimed arose of those operations."). 

In Vandivort, the court held that where a contractor is performing 

operations on property under construction and the property damage arose 

out of those operations, then coverage for damage to the property is 

subject to this exclusion. Id. Shelcon removed soil stakes during its 

ongoing operations. Had Shelcon wanted coverage for property damage 

occurring during the course of its work, it should have purchased a 

Builder's Risk policy. A COL policy does not cover alleged property 

damage during ongoing operations. 

A-2 alleged non-conforming staking and settlement monitoring 

work by Shelcon. This work allegedly violated a contract. Any violation 

of She1con's contractual duties by removing the settlement markers could 
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have only occurred during the course of Shelcon's work and prior to 

substantial completion of the project. As such, any claimed damages are 

excluded by Exclusion j.(5). See Big Construction, Inc. v. Gemini Ins. 

Co., 2012 WL 1858723,9-10 (W.D. Wash. 2012) (discussed in Footnote 

2). See also Vandivort, supra. 

Shelcon's citations to and lengthy quoting from numerous out-of

state cases discussing the "performing operations" j.(5) exclusion miss the 

important distinction between the insureds' "work" at issue in those cases 

and Shelcon's "work" at issue in the allegations of the A-2 Complaint. 

In the cases relied upon by Shelcon, the "work" at issue by the 

insured was always performed on a smaller discrete "part" of a larger 

project or the newer, re-modeled part of a pre-existing structure or 

building. In the A-2 complaint, the "work" of Shelcon was "the 

improvements by defendant of plaintiffs' vacant land known as 'Beaver 

Meadows'" (i.e., the entire project being developed from vacant land). 

The markers at issue covered the whole site as did the dirt fill. These 

alleged facts make Exclusion j.(5) apply more broadly than it applied to 

the insureds in Shelcon' s cited cases and negate any coverage for a 

diminution in value of the entire project. 

In Transportation Ins. Co. v. Piedmont Constr. Group, LLC, 301 

Ga. App. 17, 686 S.E.2d 824 (2009), the insured "was performing 
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renovation work in [the pre-existing historic Browning Hall] building" 

when a fire started extensively damaging the building. Id. at 17. More 

specifically, "[d]uring the renovation, a plumbing subcontractor soldering 

copper pipes in Room 143 accidentally ignited a wooden wall stud, 

starting a fire which completely destroyed the roof and entire second floor 

of the building and caused extensive damage to the rest of the structure." 

Id. at 18. 

The insurer argued that the phrase "that particular part of real 

property" refers to "the entire building which was being renovated because 

[the insured] was performing work throughout [the building]." Id. at 18. 

The insured argued the "renovation was limited to less than one-fifth of 

the building and that the damage was not due to 'defective workmanship" 

resulting in damage to the contractors work, ... " Id. 

In this context, the Court applied the j.(5) exclusion more narrowly 

while noting, "This case is not limited to damages to 'that particular part 

of real property' on which the plumbing subcontractor was working when 

it accidentally started a devastating fire. It involves damage to the entire 

building, including portions to which [the insured] had not originally 

contracted to perform any work." Id. at 21. In contrast, here, the A-2 

Venture complaint alleged Shelcon was responsible through its contract 

for "the improvements by defendant of plaintiffs' vacant land known as 
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'Beaver Meadows'" (i.e., the entire project) and the alleged diminution in 

value was for the entire land. The Piedmont Constr. Group, LLC case is 

distinguishable. 

Similarly, in Columbia Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schauf, 967 S.W.2d 74 

(Missouri 1998), the work at issue was for a subcontractor of the insured 

"to paint, stain, or lacquer all interior and exterior surfaces of the Sodaros' 

[newly constructed] house." Id. at 76. While the subcontractor was 

cleaning his "spraying" equipment after previously applying lacquer, the 

"pump generator started a fire, which caused extensive damage ... and 

required the replacement of sheetrock, insulation, subflooring, molding, 

windows, a sliding door, and textured ceilings." Id. 

Considering these facts, the Court in Schauf applied the j.(5) 

exclusion more narrowly to negate coverage for the damages caused by 

the insured's subcontractor. "Under this interpretation, only the damage 

the insured causes to the particular part of the property that is the object of 

the insured's work when the damage occurs is excluded from coverage; 

any other damage would not be the subject of the exclusion." Id. at 80. In 

Shauf, the object of the insureds/sub-contractors work was the "paint[ing], 

stain[ing], or lacquer[ing of] all interior and exterior surfaces of the 

Sodaros' [newly constructed] house." Id. at 76. The A-2 Venture 

complaint alleged She1con was responsible through its contract for soil 
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work on the entire Beaver Meadows project and the alleged diminution in 

land value was for the entire project. 

Finally, in Acuity v. Burd & Smith Constr., Inc., 721 N.W.2d 33 

(N .Dak. 2006), the court had distinguishing facts before it which called for 

a more narrow application of the j.(5) exclusion. In Acuity, the insured 

(and under it, a subcontractor) were contracted to "replace the roof of the 

existing apartment complex." Id. at 35. In its complaint against the 

general contractor-insured, the owners of the complex "essentially claimed 

that while replacing the roof, [the insured] failed to protect the apartment 

building from rainstorms, which caused extensive damage to the interior 

of the building. Additionally, two building tenants claimed they sustained 

property loss as a result of water damage and also sued [the owner and the 

insured]." Id. 

The Acuity court cited to cases from other jurisdictions which held: 

[O]ther courts have generally construed those property 
damage exclusions to exclude coverage when the property 
damage is to the property on which the insured has 
contracted to perform operations and not to exclude 
coverage when the property damage is to property that the 
insured was not performing operations on. [Citations 
omitted.] Some courts have specifically recognized that 
facts in each case are determinative of the particular part of 
property on which an insured is performing its operations 
and that buildings may be divided into parts in attempting 
to determine which part or parts are the object of the 
insured's work product. [Citation omitted.] The common 
thread for deciding whether there is coverage for property 
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damage is the scope of the insured's contract. [Citations 
omitted.] 

Acuity v. Burd & Smith Constr. , Inc., 721 N.W.2d 33, 41 (N.Dak. 2006). 

The court limited the exclusion to the damages to the roof itself, 

not the rest of the complex. Again, in contrast, Shelcon was responsible 

through its contract with A-2 Venture for improvements to the entire 

Beaver Meadows project (which was formerly vacant land). The 

discussion and holding from Acuity, for that reason, are irrelevant. 

b. Exclusion j.(6). 

Similarly, Exclusion j .(6) bars coverage for alleged "property 

damage" to that particular part of any property that must be "restored or 

repaired" because Shelcon's work was incorrectly performed on it. The 

exclusion reads as follows: 

J. Damage to Property 

"Property damage" to: 

(6) That particular part of any property that must be 
restored, repaired or replaced because "your work" 
was incorrectly performed on it. 

CP 362, 384, 405. See Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of 

London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 302-306, 914 P.2d 119 (1996) (coverage 

excluded for damage to that particular part of any property upon which the 

Assured is or has been working caused by the faulty manner in which the 
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work has been performed .... "); see also Harrison Plumbing v. New 

Hampshire Ins. Group, 37 Wn. App. 621, 625-626 (1984) (similar 

exclusion). A-2's soil or land restoration or loss of use, if alleged, is not 

covered because of this exclusion. 

Exclusion j.(6) applies because the entire sales price of Beaver 

Meadows project (the work of Shelcon) had to be reduced by estimated 

rectification costs. This is referred to in the complaint allegations--

Plaintiff then reduced the price of the land to $6,412,500.00 
by purchase and sale agreement to Harbour Homes dated 
October 19, 2007 based upon buyers knowledge of the soil 
preparation errors of defendant and an estimate of the costs 
of rectifying them. [See Section VI of Complaint.] CP 85. 
(emphasis added). 

Shelcon completely mIsses the point with its argument that 

exclusion j.(6) does not apply because "A-2 never claimed that the 

settlement markers could be restored, repaired or replaced.") (See page 24 

of Appellant's Brief.) The diminution in value allegation at p. 5 of the 

Complaint (CP 86) refers to the later sale of the project at a lower price to 

account for rectification expenses. The property was eventually 

developed, sold and houses built on it albeit at a reduced price. (See 

Findings of Fact 73-83 in the September 28, 2012 Findings of Fact and 

Again She Icon baldy asserts that the "settlement markers" were destroyed. The A-2 
complaint did not allege the destruction of any the "settlement markers." The 
Haymond deposition supplied to WNAC did not establish that assertion either, even 
if the testimony was relevant to the duty to defend analysis (which it is not). 
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Conclusions of Law, CP 153-154; 423.) Shelcon's j.(6) arguments are 

flawed. 

In Mid-Continent Cas. Co. v. JHP Development, Inc. , 557 F.3d 

207 (5th Cir. 2009), the insured entered into "an agreement for the 

construction of a condominium project ... [consisting of five-units in] a 

four story wood-frame structure with partial concrete and masonry bearing 

walls at the first floor/garage level, supported by a concrete slab-on-grade 

foundation." Id. at 210. The failure to properly water seal the exterior 

finishes and retaining walls led to water penetrating the interior of the 

structure though ceilings, walls door and other points damaging 

"contiguous building materials and interior finishes, including interior 

drywall, stud framing, electrical wiring, and wood flooring, prior to the 

completion of the project." Id. 

The owner terminated its agreement with the insured and hired 

another contractor to repair and complete the condominiums. Again, the 

court applying j.(6) exclusion more narrowly than the insurer argued it 

should focused on the object of the insured's work under the contract: 

The narrowing 'that particular part" language is used to 
distinguish the damaged property that was itself the subject 
of the defective work from other damages property that was 
either the subject of nondefective work by the insured or 
that was not worked on at all by the insured. . . . We find 
that exclusion j(6) bars coverage only for property damage 
to parts of a property that themselves were the subject of 
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the work by the insured; the exclusion does not bar 
coverage for damage to parts of a property that were the 
subject of only nondefective work by the insured and were 
damaged as a result of defective work by the insured on 
other parts of the property. 

Mid-Continent Cas. Co. v. JHP Development, Inc., 557 F.3d 207, 215 (5 th 

Cir. 2009). 

As noted above, the A-2 Venture complaint alleged Shelcon was 

responsible through its contract for "improvement" of the vacant land 

which was the entire Beaver Meadows project surface area and the alleged 

diminution in value was for the entire project. CP 82-86. Accordingly, 

the JHP Development discussion and holding are inappropriate. 

A-2 alleged diminished land value because Shelcon's dirt and 

measuring rod placement "work" was incorrectly done. It was supposed 

to enable land subsidence measurement and failed to do so. To the extent 

the property or lots were later sold at a lower price, there was no coverage 

under WNAC's policies for diminution in value associated with Shelcon's 

work and thus no duty to defend. In relying on Exclusions j.(5), j.(6) and 

m., WNAC properly denied the duty to defend Shelcon. 

G. Reliance on Extrinsic Facts for Duty to Defend. 

After the initial tender, Shelcon sent discovery material to WNAC 

as the underlying matter progressed. There are only two circumstances 

where facts extrinsic to the complaint may determine a duty to defend: 
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(1) if the allegations in the complaint are unclear or ambiguous, or (2) if 

the allegations conflict with facts known by the insurer. Truck Ins. 

Exchange v. Vanport Homes Inc., 147 Wn.2d 751, 761, 58 P.3d 276 

(2002). Neither circumstance applies here. First, the complaint 

unambiguously alleges that Shelcon caused A-2 pure economic loss. 

Second, the discovery provided did not substantiate a physical injury or 

loss of use of any property. 2 

An insurer must look outside the allegations in the complaint only 

if those allegations conflict with facts known to or are readily 

ascertainable by the insurer. R.A. Hansen Co. v. Aetna Ins Co., 26 Wn. 

App. 290, 294, 612 P .2d 456 (1980). Here, however, the facts made 

known to WNAC outside of the complaint well after original tender are 

not in conflict with the allegations in the complaint. A-2 consistently 

alleged Shelcon caused its land value economic diminution and the trial 

court agreed. 

H. There is No Requirement for WNAC to Search for Additional 
Extrinsic Facts Outside of the Complaint Allegations. 

Shelcon suggested below (CP 34) and again in this appeal (see pp.

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